
QUESTIONS PRESENTEDPRIVATE 

I.  Is it a due process violation to sustain a conviction on the basis of testimony of multiple witness who testify to  uncorroborated admissions of a defendant where the admissions are markedly different and materially inconsistent, there is no independent corroborating evidence, and more than six years has elapsed between the date of the alleged admissions and the trial?

II.  Is it a due process violation to prosecute a defendant relying on a capital offense statute of limitations provision in a statute at a time when the death penalty provision of the statute is no longer applicable because of decisions of this court and the prosecution would otherwise be barred by a general statute of limitations applicable to non-capital offenses?

III.  In a prosecution brought more than seven years after the offense, where the identity of multiple witnesses ultimately used against the defendant have been known to the investigators for more than six years, is there constitutional presumption of prejudicial pre-indictment delay which must be overcome and disproved by the prosecution by clear and convincing evidence? 


PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS

The Plaintiff in the case in United States District Court was the United States of America.  Four defendants were indicted and tried in a joint trial.  Appeals were filed separately with the Eighth Circuit but the cases were consolidated for oral argument and further proceedings and a single opinion issued in all four cases with defendants listed in the following order:


U.S. v. Darlene M. Edwards, 8th Cir. No. 97-2935;  


U.S. v. Richard W. Brown, 8th Cir. No. 97-2943;


U.S. v. Earl D. Sheppard, 8th Cir. No. 97-3019;


U.S. v. Bryan E. Sheppard, 8th Cir. No. 97-3022; and,

 
U.S. v. George Frank Sheppard, 8th Cir. No. 97-3028.
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PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Petitioner Richard W. Brown respectfully prays that a writ of certiorari issue to review the judgment and opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit entered in this proceeding in order to resolve important questions of federal law that have not been, but should be, settled by this court and resolve what appear to be conflicts between the United States Court of Appeals and this Court with respect to issues presented here.


OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit that gives rise to this petition is published at 159 F.3d 1117 (8th Cir. 1998) and is reprinted as Appendix A hereto ("App. A") at page A-1.  Petitioner was deemed by the Eighth Circuit to have joined in pending motions for rehearing by the panel and rehearing in banc.  On December 21, 1998, the Eighth Circuit denied the petition for rehearing and suggestion for rehearing en banc.  (A copy of the Order is appended to the last page of the opinion as part of the Appendix at page 24).


JURISDICTION

This action was commenced pursuant to an Indictment filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri alleging a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 844(i).  Petitioner was convicted and Judgment was entered in the District Court on July 10, 1997.  Petitioner timely appealed the District Court decision to the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals and the case was decided adversely to Petitioner on October 30, 1998 and rehearing en banc and rehearing before the panel was denied on December 21, 1998.  The Eighth Circuit had jurisdiction to hear the direct appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  This Court has jurisdiction to grant certiorari in this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1254.  


STATUTES INVOLVED IN THIS CASE

Title 18, United States Code, Section 844(i)


Whoever maliciously damages or destroys, or attempts to damage or destroy, by means of fire or an explosive, any building, vehicle, or other real or personal property used in interstate or foreign commerce . . . [is guilty of an offense].


STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 28, 1988, an explosion occurred at the Bruce Watkins Memorial Drive project at 71 highway and Blue River Road, in the Marlborough area of Kansas City, Missouri. (II 368).  Brown Brothers Construction Company, was the project general contractor and Mountain Plains Construction was the subcontractor in charge of blasting on the site. (IX-1743, 1767).  Brown Brothers kept heavy equipment on the west side of 71, while Mountain Plains stored bunkers containing dynamite and caps and two tractor trailers containing ammonium nitrate and fuel oil on the east side. (II 421,IX 1754). The company had experienced vandalism to their equipment at the site but to the owner's knowledge nothing was ever stolen. (IX-751). No dynamite, caps or ANFO was ever stolen from the site. (1780, 1793).


Brown Brothers security was provided by Ameriguard, a security company owned by Robert Riggs. (III 585, 690).  Deborah Riggs and her brother Robert ended up working the late night shift at the construction site on November 28-29, 1988 (II 438). They arrived at the site at approximately the same time.  Robert Riggs instructed his sister to move to the west side and he set up guard on the east side. (442).  During the evening they conducted three patrols of the entire property, checking the locks on the trailers and dynamite bunkers. (444).  All locks were untouched, however, they were unable to see the lock on one of the trailers, because a Mountain Plains pick-up truck was backed up against the trailer door. (445). After the last patrol, Deborah Riggs parked on the west side of the site where she had a commanding view of the area.  (445).  Deborah Riggs radioed her brother and asked if he wanted a sandwich and he drove down from the east side and parked his station wagon by her truck on the west side.  After eating the sandwich in his vehicle, the two began to go over the schedules for the upcoming week. (447).   Forty-five minutes to an hour later, Deborah saw two men in the middle of 71 highway by the office trailers, which were parked in the median of the highway. (457). As she watched them, they cut behind the office trailers and disappeared from view. (458).  Deborah alerted Robert Riggs and he immediately started the station wagon and drove across the road to the side of the trailers. (460).  Robert Riggs testified he shined his spotlight around and underneath the trailers, but did not see any people or vehicles.  (2-461). The two then proceeded up the highway to the bridge and shined the spotlight into the creek and the wooded area surrounding the construction site.  (461-64).  Again, they saw no people or vehicles.  Then, instead of returning to the construction site, the two went on up the road a short way to the Quick Trip. (II 464).  As she and her brother were leaving the parking lot they were told there was a fire at the site.  (466).


The Riggs took off southbound on 71 highway (466) and observed her pickup truck on fire.  They called the fire department. (467).  When they arrived at the site, Deborah looked across the highway to the east side, saw flames, and told her brother "the explosives are on fire."  (469). After a few moments, the first fire truck arrived on the scene and extinguished the fire in her pick up (470).  A few moments later another fire truck arrived on the scene. Deborah Riggs testified she talked with the firemen, explained the layout on the east side and, told them the trailers contained ammonium nitrate, fuel oil and fertilizer. (531-32, 536). Robert Riggs also testified he had a conversation with the firemen, in which he described the layout on the east side and the contents of the trailers and how the sacks were stacked. (III 633).   


Deborah and her brother followed the second fire truck up on the hill on the east side of the site and parked back away from the trailers.  (II 473). Deborah Riggs testified that when they arrived on the hill, she observed the Mountain Plains pickup truck and one trailer on fire.  At this point, the chief's car pulled up on the hill and his driver got out and walked over to the Riggs' station wagon.  Riggs testified her brother was on the phone with either Brown or Collins and she told the driver that the trailer contained ammonium nitrate, diesel fuel and fertilizer. (478).  The driver asked her to give the chief that information, so she walked over to the chief's car and relayed that information. (Id.).  After a brief conversation with the chief he picked up his microphone, and a massive explosion occurred. (Id.).  The explosion knocked Riggs to the ground. 


Chief Marion German testified that the dispatch tape indicates the Riggs' first call to report the fire came at 3:40 a.m., the first explosion occurred at 4:08 a.m., and the second explosion at 4:48.   Chief German testified that during his radio contact with Captain Kilventon, Kilventon told him it looked like a magnesium fire, which had already exploded. (III 766). 


Crime Scene Investigator Gary Buchanon searched for evidence at the scene the next day.  He testified he observed three craters caused by the blast (III 880); that two days later he returned to the site and collected a padlock that had been blown apart by the explosion and a gas can (887); that he never observed copper tubing, extension cords, diamond saws or blades, concrete saws, drill bits or a transit on the site. (892); and, that the dynamite bunkers were locked and secured. (895).


Cliff Lund, and explosives enforcement officer for ATF testified that when ANFO is set on fire it either burns itself out or builds up so much pressure it explodes. (IV-918). Lund testified to his knowledge this is the first time a trailer containing ANFO ever exploded. (945) Further, according to Lund he has never had ANFO explode while burning it. (924).  Even though this is the first time something like this ever happened, Lund theorized that the explosion was caused by the build up of gas in the trailers. (959). 


In July 1989, Bryan Sheppard was charged with the crime. Thereafter, charges were dismissed. (XVIII 3404).  Bryan's arrest caused rumors in the Marlborough neighborhood and focus on the Sheppard family as suspects in the case. (XII 2246, XIII 2381).   Rumors were fueled by the posting of reward posters in the Marlborough neighborhood and the airing of the incident on a popular television show, but no charges were filed. (XIV-2549).  Some six years later, agents from ATF and Kansas City Missouri Police Officers commenced a renewed investigation and began re-interviewing people who had initially been interviewed in 1989, regarding the explosion. (3144). The banners and reward posters placed throughout the Kansas City Metropolitan area, coupled with the airing of the Unsolved Mystery episode, prompted many individuals to call ATF and claim they had knowledge of events that occurred six to seven years prior.  The case was thereafter built primarily on admissions of the various defendants.       


Of the 80 government witnesses who testified in the case, 15 provided testimony common to all defendants.  A number of witnesses testified as to alleged admissions of Defendant Brown.

Jerry Rooks (VI-1115-1171) testified that he was 13 yrs old when the blast occurred (1115).  He testified that he had a conversation with Brown in Marlborough Park concerning the blast and that Brown stated he " . . . was up there but he left before anything went on." (1124).
  In cross-examination he said that Brown said "[t]hat he and some people were down there and they had left . . . before anything went on." (1142-1143). Carrie Neighbors testified next. (XI 1993-2021).  Ms. Neighbors went to school with Bryan Sheppard (1993) and knew Richard Brown through mutual friends (1994).  In 1989 in April or May she was at a party at Swope Park at Shelter 7 with a friend Shannon Newcomb (1995-96).  She said Richard Brown and Bryan Sheppard were having a conversation she overheard.  She was unable to state who said what (1997).  After objections were overruled, she was allowed to testify "[t]hat they went there to steal batteries and they set the fire to cover their tracks and they saw two security guards and they ran . . . [t]o Richard's grandma's house . . . [and] [t]hey faked they were asleep." (1999-2000).  A couple of weeks later she overheard another conversation between Richard and Bryan (2000).  She said she heard them say "They went to steal batteries.  They set the fire to cover their tracks." (2001).  She did not report this to the police. (2002).  In cross-examination Neighbors admitted she had been drinking and using marijuana each time she heard the conversations; that it was some six years before she provided authorities with an account of the incidents; that Richard and Bryan were probably drunk each time (2002-2011).  They never mentioned setting fire to a pickup (2012); they never said they were creating a diversion; they never said anything about throwing dynamite; and, they did not mention stealing tools or copper. (2013).  Newcomb further admitted when she testified before the grand jury she could not remember what anyone said (2018) but that prior to testifying in court she got to review a report prepared by Agent Schram (2018).


Stephen Caudill (XI 2074-2094) testified that in 1989 he had two conversations with Brown; he testified that in the first conversation Brown " . . . said that him, in the company of others, were down at the site the night it got blew up." and that he (Brown) was there "[j]ust to be stealing." (2075-2076).  Three to five weeks later outside his house "[h]e said that him and some other people had went down there and that he was the last to leave . . ." (2077).  Following a discussion of Bruton issues, Mr. Caudill was allowed to testify that Brown said when he made the comments he indicated he was with two other individuals, Lonnie Joe Pugh and Chuck Jennings. (2087-88).  Caudill did not believe Brown and did not report the incident (2088).  


Pam Harth testified as the 49th witness (XII 2193-2215). She knew Richard Brown and Bryan Sheppard through her sons and Richard called her "Mom." (2195).  Her boyfriend woke her up after the explosion (id.).  About one month after the explosion, Richard and Bryan were at her house in the front room waiting for her son; she was fifteen feet away and she could see and hear them; she said she heard Richard say "they" went to get tools; they set the fire on the hill and it got bigger than "they" thought and "they" ran out of gas before "they" had done this crime."
 (2196-2199).  She also testified that Richard said "they" wanted to burglarize a shed that had tools in it. (2199).  She admitted she did not go to the police with this information (id.).  She said she eventually came forward in 1996 to talk to the police but she did not care about the reward money. (2202).  In cross she admitted she was aware of the reward of $50,000; she admitted that "maybe" she told the grand jury "my memory ain't too good . . ."; that she reviewed a police report 10 minutes prior to testifying; that she had talked to the prosecutor before testifying; and she acknowledged that she had heard "50 million rumors" about the fire; (2202-2208).


Thomas Butner testified immediately after Harth (XII 2215-2236).  In mid 1989 he had a conversation with Brown; Brown said he went to the construction site with other people to see what they could get; he said he was trying to get into a trailer, could not get it open, got mad, and "started a little fire." (2215-19).  When he said this he was drunk or half-asleep (2218).  Brown probably told him this eight or nine times but "he was always half asleep or something, never straight out tell me." (2220). Butner also testified that two or three days after the blast he traded his Malibu for Brown's black pickup. (2220).  Butner told the prosecutor that he did not come forward until 1995 because he never believed Brown, that Brown would "say he done something even if he didn't do it." (2221).  "Just like a wreck, if he didn't do it he would still brag about it, if he did it or not." (Id.).  In cross Mr. Butner admitted that Brown told him sometimes a girl named "Kelly" was with him [not a defendant in this case] and at other times he named other persons and this was why Butner did not believe him. (2233-35).


Fern Ayers (XII 2236-57) testified she knew Richard Brown  and Bryan Sheppard because Richard ran around with her boys and Bryan was always with him (2237).  She had several conversations with Richard about the explosion; he said it was an accident; and, in a second conversation while talking about the explosion Richard asked her if she wanted to see something in a car trunk but Bryan slammed it shut (2239-2240). In cross examination it became apparent that Richard and Bryan may have been talking about dynamite and caps (2245-2250).  Ayers admitted that when she suggested Richard had done "it" that he denied it.
  Frank Gile (XII 2118-2314) testified that he knew Bryan Sheppard and Richard Brown, having grown up with them (2257-2259).  Gile said Richard told him he went down there to steal and on the way "they" ran out of gas. (2259).  After he got gas "they" started a pickup on fire that was next to a trailer (id).  He also testified that Bryan Sheppard told him he Bryan "went down there." (2260).  During cross Mr. Gile admitted that he did not like Mr. Brown for a variety of reasons; that he and Mr. Brown had a confrontation over a check that Gile had Bryan's mother cash which Gile then told his employer was lost or stolen; that he provided information because he thought it would help with a parole hearing; and, that he lied on other occasions (2272-2286).


Wally Mills, fourteen at the time of the explosion, testified after Gile. (XII 2290-2302).  He met Brown through Frank Gile and stayed with Brown when he Mills was "on-the-run" from an "escape from confinement" charge. (2292).  His version was that Brown told him he and some friends were at the site drinking, a truck ran out of gas, they went to get gas at the Quick Trip, came back up and put gas in the truck and somebody poured the rest on a trailer, and lit it. (2293).  Mills said the admissions were in 1992 or 1993 but he never went to the police. (2296).  During cross Mr. Mills admitted that in the Grand Jury he had said that Brown told him that he Brown was with a Johnny Driver and that they went there to steal dynamite. (2299).  Mills said he did not report it because Brown had been partying at the time and he felt he might have been "blowing it out of his butt," that is, exaggerating, lying or bragging; that he was drinking or drunk and that it could have been just talk. (2300-2302).


Amy Pederson testified that in the summer of 1993 when she was sixteen she talked to Brown at his house when he was living with Frank Gile; Brown said that he and a group of people had gone to the site to set off some dynamite and that they set the explosion and left. (2305).  "They" set dynamite near or underneath the truck and "they" did it for fun. (2305, 2313).


Bryan Studna also testified against Brown (XIII 2355-2396).  Studna identified photographs of a home that belonged to Richard Brown's grandfather and testified that sometime in 1990 at the house Brown told him about the explosion and said he started "the" truck on fire and that after that as a diversion he started the rest of it on fire. (2360).  Brown said he was there to steal stuff. (id.).  Studna waited until 1995 to tell this information to the authorities (2316).  Studna admitted that he was a drug user; that he had been in trouble with the law; and, that he had been a paid informant. (2376-2381).  He recalled there were lots of rumors going around and after the Unsolved Mysteries show that there was speculation about who all was going to get arrested; and that he thought his own door would get kicked in (2390-2394).  
Kelly Corriston testified next (XIII 2396-2420).  She dated Mr. Brown in 1988 (2398).  She was at her sister's when the blast occurred (2399).
  After the explosion she talked to Richard about it.  Richard said he was worried because someone, that is, "people" were saying they had seen him at the 7-Eleven getting gas in a gasoline can. (2400).  She also testified she was present during a conversation between Richard and his grandmother. (2401).  During this conversation she said that Richard was in a loud conversation with his grandmother and he was angry because she had told the police he got home that night right after the first explosion. (2402).  She said he wanted her to say that he was already in bed before it happened. (Id.).  During cross-examination she admitted that in 1989 she had told a detective named Zinn that she could not remember anything that Brown had said during the conversation. (2406).  Four days after the first conversation with the Detective, she again told him she could not remember anything (2407).  In 1995 she met with Agent True.   She watched a videotaped interview of her sister, Tracy Smith and then she said she remembered things. (2408). On February 20, 1996, after viewing Unsolved Mysteries and learning of the reward, she went back to the police with her father and provided the details she was testifying to at trial. (2409).


Kimberly Finch (XIII 2420-2446) testified that she knew Bryan, Frank and "Skip" Sheppard; that she was at her sister-in-law Candy Smith's house when she first heard about the explosion; that Candy called her dad Louis Smith (Richard Brown's grandfather) to see if he was alright; and, that she and Candy then drove to Kansas City and that Candy went into the house and talked to her grandfather while she stayed in the car. (2420-2424).  While in the car she saw people in the yard including Richard Brown and Frank Sheppard (2425). In 1991 she was at a party where Richard and some of the other defendants were present (2425).  Everybody was drinking (Id.).  She heard Bryan and Richard talking about the "firefighter thing." (2429).  Finch testified that Richard was talking about a shed and a trailer and wiping off fingerprints but that Bryan was telling him to shut up; that Richard told Bryan " . . . well, you're the one that said you were going, said you were going to catch that lock on fire, set that lock on fire so they could get in there and see what was in there. (2430-2431).  Then, Finch testified to the following concerning a statement made by Bryan to Richard Brown at page 2436 of the transcript:


Q.  Something about Bryan and Richard talking about --

     A.  Arguing.

     Q.  - - about the fire or something like that?


A.  Uh-huh, because Bryan said he was fed up with my nephew running his mouth, telling everything.  And Bryan said, told him straight up that he wasn't even there, so how in the hell is he supposed to know anything, quit running his mouth.

Ms. Finch also testified that Brown partied and drank hard; that he bragged and often took credit for things he did not do; that he had never when sober said he had anything to do with the fire; and that in fact, even when drunk he had never told her he was actually up there and did it. (2444-2445). Shannon Newcomb testified after Ms. Finch (XIII 2446-2476); she knew Bryan Sheppard and Richard Brown; she had been to parties with them; at one party the explosion was talked about; she was with Carrie Neighbors; and,that Richard was talking about the explosion. (2450).  She testified that Richard said "they" were on the site; that the security guards had seen them; that because of this they started a fire in the guard's pickup truck and ran toward the woods. (2451).  Bryan was standing right next to Richard during the conversation and they were acting like it was not a big deal and "they were nonchalant, kind of just joking about how they, how they ran." (Id.).  Ms. Newcomb testified that Brown was a bragger, and seemed to think a lot of himself; that he seemed to exaggerate a lot; that he minded everybody else's business; and, that he seemed to know everything that was happening. (2468-2471).  She did not report any of this until 1995 until contacted by agents (2474).


Margaret Weaver (XIII 2477-2490) testified that on the night of the explosion she walked to a 7-Eleven at 79th and Paseo;
 that she knew Bryan Sheppard and Richard Brown; that she saw Richard and Bryan standing next to Bryan's black car; that there was someone else with them but she did not know who it might have been; and that they were talking about going to a party. (2480-2485).  She saw Richard and Bryan about 1:00 or 2:00 a.m. (2489).  Bryan was wearing jeans and a T-shirt (2487).  She remembered it was not very cold because she walked. (2488).


Stephen Morales (XIV 2557-2676), a newspaper carrier, testified he was traveling north on 71 highway to get his papers; that it was about 1:15 to 1:45 in the morning; that he saw Bryan Sheppard with Randy Bohrn, Richard Brown, Frank Sheppard and another individual he did not know by Bohrn's house by a primered pickup (2560-62); that his papers were not there for pickup at that time, so he went back south on 71 at about 2:00 or 2:15 a.m.; that he saw a pickup on the side of the road on 71 highway; that at about 3:15 or 3:30 he started back north after picking up another person; and, that on the way he saw the security guards shining a spotlight up on the hill (2563-64).  Morales said he picked up his papers and was in Willow Creek when the first blast went off. (2566).


Cindy Butner (XIV 2521-2557) testified that she knew Richard Brown; that she was at a party at her aunt's house in 1989; that Richard was there and that he made statements about the explosion. (2523-24).  According to Butner, Brown said he and a group of people were there at the explosion; they went there to take some dynamite; they used gasoline to set "it" on fire; that Brown made these statements while on a couch in front of her; and that he was talking to other people. (2525).  Under cross-examination she admitted that she was aware of a reward, that she thought it was $25,000; that she saw this on a banner in her neighborhood; and that Tom Butner, another witness in the case, was her brother. (2527-25-30).  She also confirmed that Brown said he was with Kelly Corriston and they went up there to get dynamite (2536).
  Ms. Butner also admitted that there were many rumors in Marlborough about who was involved; the rumors heated up again in 1995 when the television show aired; people were talking about it; it was the biggest thing that ever happened in Marlborough; and, everybody was interested in it and gossiping about who did it or might have done it. (2548-2549).  


Monica Maggard (XIV 2707-2733) testified that on the night of the explosion she and a friend were out driving around looking for a place to break in to burglarize and had considered the Silo on Bannister Road (2708); that after the explosion they aborted the mission and instead got some sleep; that the next day she and her friend Patrick Stewart went to Swope Park (2708-09); that in the park Richard Brown came up to him and Stewart started talking about how he had planned to do a burglary the evening before; and then, according to Maggard, Brown "put his arm around Pat and told Pat, 'Well, let me tell you what we just did.'"  Maggard testified that Brown then mentioned the explosion and said "Well, we did that."  (2709-10).  During cross Maggard said her friend Stewart was in Lansing State Prison on a felony sentence; and, that she had gone to ATF with her information after speaking with Stewart to see if ATF would help Stewart (2715).  Maggard also acknowledged that during the gatherings at Swope Park that people there " . . . what they usually did was they always tried to outdo each other's stories." (2721).  


Nancy Romi (XV 2738-2770) testified that she had known Brown most all of her life as she had been married to his uncle.  She is also Defendant Darlene Edwards' sister.  Romi testified that Brown had a black Ford pickup truck; it had some primer on the hood; it was loud going down the road; and she had seen it in the neighborhood several times. (2739-2740).  Romi said she was asleep when the explosion went off; she got up and went to the window and it was blown out; that she looked out and she saw a black Ford pickup with one headlight out headed north on Brooklyn; and that while she could not identify the driver, she surmised it was Brown (2742).  Richard was staying two blocks north from her house (2743).  Darlene Edwards lived about a block West (2744).  Romi testified it is about a five minute drive from her house to the blast site (2745).  She then left and went to her sister's house about five blocks away and was there when the second blast happened. (id).  


Lonnie Joe Pugh, age 37, (XV 2804-2832) testified that he knew the Sheppard family; that he remembered the explosion as it knocked him out of bed (2808); he went outside and saw Larry Baker; a dark Ford pickup pulled up and Skip Sheppard got out with a beer; that there were two other people in the truck he did not know; and that they went into Larry Baker's house. (2806-2809).  Mr Pugh did not see Brown, Darlene Edwards, or Frank Sheppard in front of Baker's house (2819).
  Mr. Pugh described Brown's pickup as nice, with a glossy black paint job, with glass pack mufflers on it; he testified that Brown was having traffic ticket problems and that Brown was always careful to ensure that all lights were working to avoid police attention; that the headlights and taillights were working.


Kimberly Archer, an inmate in the Jackson County Jail, testified next. (XV 2832-2852).  Archer, a drug abuser, dated Richard Brown's brother, Carl Brown (2833).  She testified that at the time of the explosion Carl Brown was living in an apartment near Bannister Mall (2836); that she was at his  apartment that night; that when she woke up the next morning Richard Brown was at the door and that he was driving "an old black truck"; that Carl let them in; that Richard and Bryan were talking in the front room and she could hear them; that Richard said "[t]hat there was an explosion, there was a fire"; and then a bit later Carl took her to the doctor which was confirmed by medical records. (2837-2840).  She said the three men talked for about 1/2 hour; she eventually went into the room; she smelled no gasoline or smoke smell on them; and that from the conversation she could not tell whether they had been involved or were merely telling Carl all about what had happened (2845-2846).
            
Karen Baird, age 54, testified (XVI 2942-3022) that she had know Richard Brown for 18 years and Bryan Sheppard for 23. (2943).  She said she was a licensed therapist who did structural integration (massages) (2944).  She testified that she was in bed at home when the explosion happened; that she went back to sleep after the first blast; that she awoke when the second blast went off; and, that she laid down across the bed after that. (2945).

At about seven or eight o'clock in the morning, Richard and Bryan came by and came to her bedroom. (id.).  Bryan wanted his neck fixed and she started massaging it. (id.).  She noticed that his skin was sandy feeling and that he had some abrasive scratches on his arms; that he was kind of dirty and muddy. (id.).  Bryan's muscles were tight and when she asked about it he said "If you'd been through what I've been through, you'd be tight too."
  (2947).  When she inquired further, he told her she did not 

really want to know. (Id.).  Richard was standing in the doorway and did not say anything that she can recall. (Id.).  She did not notice anything about Richard Brown's person that she could particularly recall. (2948 and 3013). She also testified that she talked to her neighbor and friend Kathy Marburger several times that morning. (Id.).  


Kathy Marburger (XVI 3022-3045) testified that she was 46 years old, had lived in Marlborough area since 1990, and had been blind her whole life (3022-23); that she knew Bryan because he was a friend of Karen Baird's; that she had known Richard Brown since 1988; and, that she remembered the explosion -- she was asleep. (3023-24).  Marburger testified that later, after the second explosion, she talked to Karen Baird on the phone; that Baird told here that Bryan and Richard were at her house; and that "they" were covered with smoke (3025-26).  Marburger then testified that "they" were saying "if you had been through what we had just been through and where we had just come from, you be nervous too."
   During cross-examination Marburger testified that she heard both Richard and Bryan talking in the background; and, that she was unable to say who precisely said what 3038).  Counsel next confronted Ms. Marburger with her prior grand jury testimony. (3041-3044).  Ms Marburger admitted that at grand jury she never mentioned Richard Brown; that Bryan Sheppard made the quoted statement, used the pronoun "I" and that Baird told her it was Bryan who smelled of smoke (id.).  She then acknowledged that the only thing she told the grand jury was that in response to a question about Richard Brown, was ".  . . well, Richard always ran around with Bryan."
    


REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT
I.
It was a violation of due process for the panel to sustain a conviction in this case on the basis of testimony of multiple witness who testified to  uncorroborated admissions of the defendant where the admissions were markedly different and materially inconsistent, there was no independent corroborating evidence, and more than six years had elapsed between the date of the alleged admissions and the trial and the panel opinion conflicts with this Court's holding in Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963).


Appellant Brown argued to the Eighth Circuit that the evidence considered in a light most favorable to the government failed to establish his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in that it only establishes mere presence at the scene at best and the only evidence presented to arguably establish his participation as an aider and abetter was the purported uncorroborated six year old admissions by the Appellant himself which were significantly and materially inconsistent.   


In United States v. Opper, 348 U.S. 84 (1954), this court held that the government must introduce "substantial independent evidence" which establishes the trustworthiness of a confession. Opper at 93.  This independent evidence tends to make an admission reliable, thus corroborating it, while also establishing independently the other necessary elements of the offense. Id.  In this case we are dealing with multiple so-called "confessions" made by each of the charged defendants at one time or another, which were inconsistent in both manner, detail, and as well as the persons involved.  This Court has held that an uncorroborated admission by the accused does not, standing alone, corroborate an otherwise unverified confession.  United States v. Calderon, 348 U.S. 160 (1954).  Opper must be considered in conjunction with Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963) in which this Court said: "It is a settled principle of the administration of criminal justice in the federal courts that a conviction must rest upon firmer ground than the uncorroborated admission or confession of the accused." Id at 488-489.    


The alleged admissions of Appellant simply do not credibly establish that he was a participant in a criminal arson.  The evidence only establishes that Appellant was friends with Bryan Sheppard, knew the other Defendants fairly well, and sometimes "partied" with them and tried to best others with his bragging.  
The Eight Circuit in United States v. Brown, 584 F.2d 252 (8th Cir. 1978) emphasized the importance of the mere presence rule when it quoted from a Third Circuit case and agreed that it is "an essential safeguard against the ever present danger of assuming the complicity of all in attendance whenever group activity is  involved * * * The courts have the responsibility to make sure that mere speculation is not permitted to substitute for proof in such cases."  The best the government established in

this case was mere presence by Brown -- not involvement.


While the government was able to prove through 

expert testimony that the truck owned by Riggs was burned as the result of arson (an uncharged crime), no such credible evidence was produced at the trial to even remotely prove that the two trailers that exploded did so because of an act of arson.  The only proof of this against Appellant is of course his own conflicting admissions made to friends and acquaintances while in a state of intoxication.
  No physical evidence recovered from the scene supports it was arson.  The government's theory was that it must have been because no other evidence of causation could be found and because of the arson of the Riggs truck.
  In short, Appellant submits there was also a failure of proof as to this element.


The panel opinion in this case conflicts with both the cases from this Court as well as its own decision in United States v. Brown, 584 F.2d 252 (8th Cir. 1978).  The case should be reversed and a new trial ordered.

II.
It was a due process violation to prosecute the defendant relying on a capital offense statute of limitations provision in a statute at a time when the death penalty provision of the statute was no longer applicable because of decisions of this court and the prosecution was otherwise  barred by a general statute of limitations applicable to non-capital offenses.


All defendants were charged with aiding and abetting in the destruction of a building by fire and explosive materials in violation of 18 U.S.C. 844(i).  The offense is alleged to have occurred on November 29, 1988, some seven years and six months prior to indictment.  Title 18, United States Code, provides in § 3281 (captioned "Capital offenses") that "[a]n indictment for any offense punishable by death may be found at any time without limitation."  Section 3281, as in effect on the date of the offense, was the same except for a savings clause which excepted " . . . offenses barred by the provisions of the law existing on August 4, 1939."
  Section 3282 (captioned "Offenses not capital"), as in effect on the date of the offense which was last amended in 1961 provided for a general five year statute of limitations.  Thus, if the offense alleged in the indictment was legally punishable by death then the crime was a "capital" offense and there is no statute of limitations.  Conversely, if the offense was not legally punishable by death, then it is an "Offense not capital" and the general statute of limitations must apply, or some other specific limitation if applicable.
   



In 1972 the Supreme Court invalidated unfettered discretionary imposition of the death penalty and  under the mandate and guidance of Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), then existing federal death penalty statutes were unenforceable as capital offenses and any such reference to a sentencing scheme or punishment was constitutionally void.  Thus the maximum penalty in this case could not possibly be death, since the death penalty could not constitutionally be imposed because of the utter and complete absence of any federal statutory scheme in effect at the time of the crime to impose such a sentence.  Congress was fully aware of the deficiencies in these statutes but did not make any affirmative effort to correct the fundamental defects in the various statutes until very recently, more than 20  years after the Furman case.    


When Congress decided it needed federal executions, the elaborate Furman procedures were implemented in the drug kingpin law which now meets constitutional requirements.  See 21 U.S.C. 848, et seq.  Finally, in 1994, again some two decades after Furman, Congress enacted 18 U.S.C., 3591, et seq., to cure the deficiencies in the prior law.  At the same time, the discretionary language was taken out of 18 U.S.C., § 34. (Compare old and new sections). Currently, a death sentence is permissible in an 18 U.S.C. 844(i) case for crimes committed after the effective date of amendment of the statutes in 1994.


Because there was no death penalty in effect at the time of this crime and the case was indicted after the expiration of the general statute of limitations, this prosecution was barred.

III.
In a prosecution brought more than seven years after the offense, where the identity of multiple witnesses ultimately used against the defendant were known to the investigators for more than six years, there is a constitutional presumption of prejudicial pre-indictment delay which must be overcome and disproved by the prosecution by clear and convincing evidence and the failure of the prosecution to carry this burden requires reversal and remand for further proceedings. 


The statutes of limitations and the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (See Rules 48(b) and 50(b)) protect defendants from undue post-accusation delay.  The Due Process Clause of the Constitution protects a defendant against prejudicial pre-accusation delay.  See United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 789-90 (1977); United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 325-26 (1971) and United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 192 (1984). Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972) provides the rule for constitutional speedy trial (post-indictment constitutional right). The Court looks at 1) the length of the delay; 2) the reason for the delay; 3) whether and how the defendant asserted the speedy trial right; and, 4) the prejudice to the defendant.  Consideration is on a case by case basis.  In Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647 (1992), the Court held that a presumption of prejudice established by the first Barker criterion alone may constitute a sufficient showing of prejudice to the defendant.  In Doggett, the Court held that an 8 1/2 year delay between indictment and arrest violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial.  The defendant was not required to demonstrate actual prejudice where "the presumption of prejudice, albeit unspecified, is neither extenuated . . . nor persuasively rebutted." Id. at 658.  Accordingly, "consideration of prejudice is not limited to the specifically demonstrable . . . and affirmative proof of particularized prejudice is not essential to every speedy trial claim."  Id.  





Appellant submits there is a constitutional Fifth Amendment due process right of a similar nature in pre-indictment delay cases which should require that the Government "specifically demonstrate" by "affirmative proof" at a pretrial hearing that Defendants in this case had not been prejudiced by the extensive delay in bringing the indictment.  This was requested by way of pretrial motion but was denied.  The Court should have forced the Government to prove by a preponderance of evidence the absence of any prejudice and that failing to do so, the Indictment should have been dismissed. The nature of the case presented against petitioner and his inability to explore the conduct of the agents and the methods of preparing reports and coaching witnesses is the prime example of why this should be the rule in a seven year old case. 


CONCLUSIONS

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of 

certiorari should be granted.
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    � The date was October 15, 1989 according to a police report filed as the result of a fight at the park. (1137).


    �  She does not testify that Richard said "I" did this or that or that Bryan confirmed and said or acknowledge that "we" did this or that.  If Richard and Bryan used the words "they" as she testified to then Richard and Bryan must have been speculating on what others did.


    � This is of course another point where it appears there was bragging and/or lying going on as the record is clear no dynamite was ever stolen from the site.


    � This is of course inconsistent with any physical evidence in the case or expert testimony.  The government's theory was the blast was caused by the fire and there was never any dynamite stolen from the bunkers which were located some distance from the trailer.


    � This is the Kelly Mr. Brown is alleged to have said was with him in conversations with other government witnesses.


    � The testimony of Carrie Neighbors who was with Newcomb during these admissions is markedly different in its details (IX 1993-2021)(also see summary herein, supra.)


    � This is not the 7-Eleven located on 71 highway near the blast site.


    � Corriston, a government witness, denied any involvement and was not considered by the government to be a suspect.  This is of course consistent with Brown's bragging and taking credit for things he never did.


    � Pugh is of course one of the many people that defendant Brown claimed was with him when he would drink and brag. (see transcript pp 2087-88 and summary of that testimony supra.


    � This conversation, the very morning of the blast, was of course with Brown's brother as opposed to a third party and he was unaware that Archer was listening.  During this serious conversation with his brother there was no attempt to take credit for it, or boast or brag about it, by either he or Bryan Sheppard.


    � Although Richard Brown was present, it should be noted that Bryan said "I" and not "we."  See quote of Bryan, supra, in which he told Richard to stop talking about the incident -- he was not there.


    � Baird who was actually present said Bryan Sheppard made this comment and used the pronoun "I."  Counsel objected twice to the use of the word "they" by this witness but the court allowed her to continue with the vague testimony indicating that Counsel could cross-examine on the point.


    � This is one of the more troubling examples of how the witnesses in this case throughout the trial used plural pronouns to describe conduct in a way so as to attribute it to more than one defendant.


    � Obviously, we take the position that the admissions of his co-defendants do not supply this missing element since those statements were inadmissible against Appellant under Bruton and were at the same time themselves uncorroborated admissions.   


    � This kind of wild speculation could just as easily support a theory that the Riggs burned their own truck to cover the fact that an accidental fire had started while they were "goldbricking" at the 7-Eleven.


    � This savings clause has no bearing on any argument in this case.


    � Actually there is now a seven year limitation built into the bombing/arson provision based on 1994 amendments.   





